Tick-host-pathogen systems immunobiology: an interactive trio

Stephen K. Wikel¹

Frank H. Netter M.D. School of Medicine, Quinnipiac University, Hamden, CT 06518, U.S.A.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction to ticks, host interactions and tick-borne diseases
- 3. Host defenses and tick countermeasures
- 4. Identifying biological activities of saliva
- 5. Salivary gland extracts to activities of individual molecules
- 6. Salivary gland transcriptomes to next generation sequencing and proteomics
- 7. Bite site gene expression
- 8. Systems biology of tick-host-pathogen interactions
- 9. Conclusions
- 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Significant new insights are being made into tick modulation of host immune defenses and the implications of those host defense changes on tick-borne pathogen transmission and establishment of infection. Understanding tick saliva complexity increased with construction and analyses of salivary gland cDNA libraries. High throughput next generation sequencing and advances in proteomics are revealing greater complexity of saliva, nature of gene families and differential gene expression patterns not previously attainable. Combined use of genome arrays and histopathology are defining cutaneous gene expression during the course of infestation with pathogen-free ticks and during infestations with ticks experimentally infected with a tick-borne pathogen. Large data sets are being generated that are of value to researchers. A major challenge remains in linking saliva molecules with specific functions. Systems biology technologies provide the tools for analyses of complex tick-hostpathogen interactions that are the underpinnings for development of novel control strategies for ticks and tick-borne diseases of medical and veterinary public health importance.

2. INTRODUCTION TO TICKS, HOST INTERACTIONSANDTICK-BORNEDISEASES

Ticks are of vast and increasing medical and veterinary importance due to the array of infectious agents they transmit; direct damage caused to the skin of companion, domestic and wildlife animal species; and, their resulting economic impact (1,2,3,4,5). With regard to taxonomy, the order Ixodida contains 907 valid species in the families Argasidae. 186 valid

species; Ixodidae, comprised of 721 species; and, the monotypic Nuttalliellidae (6). Questions about tick taxonomic relationships are an active area of study being addressed using a variety of molecular tools (7).

Argasid and ixodid ticks differ significantly in their life cycles, host interactions and other aspects of their biology (8,9,10,11). Argasid ticks develop through two to eight instars with each requiring a blood meal. Ixodid tick larvae, nymphs and adults must blood feed to progress to the next developmental stage. Life cycle adaptations of ixodid ticks result in blood feeding patterns involving one, two or three hosts, dependent upon the tick species. Ticks are telmophages that use their cutting mouthparts to lacerate dermal blood vessels and created feeding "pools" of blood (12). Argasid chelicerae are more robust for cutting compared to those of ixodids that have a well-developed hypostome to facilitate long term host attachment (13). Many ixodid tick species also produce attachment cement to help hold them to the host over the course of feeding that may last more than a week (14). Attachment cement deposit patterns differ among ixodid genera relative to mouthpart structure (15).

Frequency and durations of blood feeding differ between argasids and ixodids and thus host exposure to tick saliva varies as well. Argasid ticks blood feed for up to approximately two hours (13, 16) with a weight increase of as much as twelve fold. A fully engorged female ixodid tick obtaining a blood meal for possibly longer than a week may increase in weight from 100 to 200 fold (14, 17).

The wound created by insertion of tick mouthparts disrupts the epidermis and enters the dermis, stimulating host defenses of pain/itch, hemostasis, inflammation and initiates immune defenses (18,19,20,21,22). The host is exposed to tick saliva during disruption of the skin and throughout the days of blood feeding from the poollike lesion created (14,23,24). Tick saliva is deposited directly into the feeding site; percutaneously across the epidermis; and, held in attachment cement (25). Tick-borne infectious agents can also be trapped in attachment cement (26). Since the number of ticks infesting an individual animal at one time can be high (27,28), the amount of exposure to the "foreign" proteins in tick saliva can be a significant antigenic challenge.

Acquired. immune response based. resistance to tick feeding develops naturally for some tick-host associations, including laboratory animal species, companion animals, horses and cattle (19,29,30,31,32,33). Acquired resistance to tick feeding is expressed as reduced engorgement, disrupted molting, reduced ova production and death of the feeding tick. However, many ticks successfully parasitize a wide array of hosts without development of significant resistance to infestation, suggesting an overall low immunogenicity for saliva proteins. Acquired resistance to the bites of pathogen-free ticks induces resistance to transmission of a tickborne pathogen by subsequent feeding of infected ticks of the same species (34). Understanding the complexity of host responses to tick infestation and tick countermeasures to those defenses is increasing at a rapid rate due to the use of powerful cellular, molecular, genomic, functional genomic and proteomic tools (22,35,36,37,38).

Ticks are efficient vectors of the widest array of human and veterinary infectious agents transmitted by blood feeding arthropods (1,39,40,41). Multiple factors, including climate change, influence the geographic ranges of both tick species and tick-borne infectious diseases (42). Dynamic nature of human tick-borne infections is reported in recent reviews of coinfections with Ixodes transmitted pathogens (43); emerging Powassan virus infections (44); identification of infections caused by Borrelia mivamotoi (45); and. emergence of Heartland virus, a novel phlebovirus, in the United States (46,47). Crimean Congo hemorrhagic fever is a zoonotic tick-borne infection of increasing importance in domestic and wild animals (48) with a central role for these species in increasing dissemination of infections (49). Emerging and resurging tick-borne infections are significant global threats to animal health requiring novel control strategies (50). Approaching human and veterinary tick-borne diseases from an integrated "one health" perspective is a logical route (51).

3. HOST DEFENSES AND TICK COUNTERMEASURES

Tick saliva is a highly complex mixture that consists of bioactive proteins, lipids and nucleosides (37,38,52,53). Tick saliva modulates, deviates or inhibits multiple cellular and molecular elements of host defenses of pain and itch, hemostasis, inflammation, innate and adaptive immunity, and wound healing (22,35,36). In addition, saliva of some argasid and ixodid species contain paralysis toxins (54). By creating a unique immunoprivileged environment at the bite site, tick saliva enhances transmission of tick-borne viruses and bacteria (20,22,35,55,56,57). Understanding of the complexity of tick saliva protein families, redundant activities and differential gene expression during blood feeding increased during the past five decades as more sensitive analysis methods evolved (21,37,38,52,58,59,60).

Tick saliva mediated countermeasures of host defenses include pain and itch responses; hemostasis by platelet aggregation, vasoconstriction and coagulation; inflammation, innate immunity and adaptive immune defenses; and, wound healing. Itch responses are simulated by diverse mediators acting on appropriate sensory receptors (61). Histamine is an example of a recognized itch mediator, and anti-histamines are effective itch inhibitors (61,62). Multiple ixodid species produce saliva histamine binding proteins (63) that could reduce bite site itch responses as well as inhibit the direct negative impact of histamine on tick feeding (64). Dermacentor reticulatus histamine high affinity binding protein is a lipocalin that also possesses a low affinity serotonin binding site (65). Serotonin is also an itch mediator (66). Tick saliva kininases are potential itch inhibitors as well (67,68). Identification of tick saliva molecules that inhibit host itch and pain responses will likely increase in diversity and redundancy within a species as a result of additional proteome characterization and functional analyses.

Hemostasis is a significant threat to successful tick feeding that requires continuous availability of blood in the feeding lesion over a period of several days to more than a week (17). Blood feeding arthropods evolved diverse countermeasures to the hemostasis events of platelet aggregation, vasoconstriction and coagulation (69,70,71). Platelet aggregation inhibitors are present in saliva of multiple tick species (69.71.72.73). Tick saliva contains limited vasodilator activity that is likely limited to prostaglandin E2 and adenosine (52). Multiple tick species evolved saliva inhibitors of coagulation pathway molecules (70) with activated factor ten (Xa) being a common target of inhibition (71,74,75). Together, these numerous saliva factors ensure that ticks can maintain blood flow into the pool-like feeding lesion over the days required for full engorgement.

Deviating, modulating or suppressing host inflammation, innate and adaptive immune responses are important challenges for ticks during the course of a single infestation as well as over the life span of the host for whom multiple infestations will be a distinct possibility, especially for domestic animals and wildlife. Ticks evolved an impressive array of saliva molecules that target nearly all aspects of vertebrate immune defenses and the scope of understanding of tick countermeasures to host immune defenses continues to increase as reported in recent reviews of the subject (22.35.36.76). As discussed in subsequent sections of this manuscript, the scope of discovery of how ticks affect host immune defenses: increased with the application of new technologies including the recent use of genome arrays to characterize tick feeding induced changes in cutaneous immunity (77.78). Likewise, next generation sequencing and proteomics are broadening understanding of number of different molecules, scope of activities, regulation, redundancies and putative roles for tick saliva molecules (37,38,79,80,81). Generation of these large data sets are the foundation for a more global perspective of tick-host interactions that contribute to development of studies linking specific immunomodulatory events with specific saliva molecules.

Tick saliva modulates activities of cellular and molecular mediators of inflammatory and innate immune responses. NK cell target cell binding and killing are suppressed by saliva of several tick species (82,83) that could result in impaired antivirus defenses. Likewise, tick suppression of type I interferon production can contribute to a bite site favorable for establishment of tick-borne virus infection. Innate immune defenses are further reduced by tick saliva modulation of the alternative pathway of complement activation by inhibiting C3b deposition (84,85) and dissociation of the active C3 convertase (86,87,88).

Keratinocyte derived proinflammatory cytokines are suppressed by tick saliva that inhibits Toll-like receptor agonist stimulation (89). This finding is significant due to the observation that during tick feeding saliva is introduced percutaneously around the bite site; directly into the feeding lesion; and, it is trapped in attachment cement that is in contact with the epidermis (25). Tick mediated reduction of proinflammatory cytokines impairs the role of these molecules in activation of endothelium, chemoattraction and activation of neutrophils, monocytes/macrophages, dendritic cells as well as other cell types; orchestrates cytokine and chemokine production by other cells: and. creates an environment that contributes to determining the nature of the subsequent adaptive immune response (90,91). For the interested reader, an excellent textbook for explanation of immune phenomena is Abbas et al. (92).

Neutrophils are the first cells attracted to a site of inflammation for destruction of microbes, and they also contribute to tissue repair (93,94,95). Tick saliva down regulates neutrophil phagocytosis (96); inhibits their chemotaxis and activation at tick feeding sites (97); and, reduces the oxidative burst essential for killing phagocytosed microbes (98).

Movement of neutrophils and other leukocytes from intravascular to extravascular sites of inflammation and immune responses depends upon coordinated interactions among proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine activation of endothelium that expresses intercellular adhesion molecules, selectins as well as activation of leukocyte surface integrins, to facilitate adhesion to endothelium and subsequent diapedesis into the extravascular compartment (99). Tick saliva reduces neutrophil β2 integrin expression (100,101) and the lymphocyte integrins, lymphocyte function associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) and very late antigen 4 (VLA-4) (102). Salivary gland extracts of two tick species differentially suppress skin endothelial cell expression of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM-1). E-selectin, and P-selectin (103). Implications of these leukocyte molecule changes induced by tick saliva factors are an impaired inflammatory response that results in a reduced threat to the feeding tick and development of an environment that is immunologically more favorable for introduction and establishment of tick-borne infectious agents.

Skin dendritic cells are a heterogeneous population of antigen presenting cells that are most effective at presenting processed peptide in the context of major histocompatibility antigen to naïve T lymphocytes in draining lymph nodes and spleen (104). Dendritic cell interactions with T lymphocytes involve multiple sequential receptor-ligand interactions of costimulatory molecules, cytokines and intracellular signaling pathways, resulting in helper and cytotoxic T lymphocyte effectors and memory responses. Tick infestation can reduce dendritic cell numbers at feeding sites (105). Tick saliva impairs dendritic cell differentiation and expression of costimulatory molecules (106); diminishes their chemotactic responses; reduces stimulation of T lymphocytes (107); and, down regulates proinflammatory cytokine expression while increasing anti-inflammatory cytokine production (108). Among the best characterized molecular relationships between tick and host is the action of tick saliva on dendritic cell innate receptors. signal transduction pathways and inflammasome function (109,110,111).

Dendritic cell cytokine production helps orchestrate the nature of the T lymphocyte response that develops upon antigen exposure. Tick infestation is frequently associated with development of helper

T lymphocyte responses with polarization to a Th2 cytokine profile that is accompanied by down regulation of Th1 cytokines (22,36). In addition to suppression of the proinflammatory cytokines TNF, IL-1, IL6 and chemokines, expression of the Th1 polarizing cytokine IL-12 is reduced (108,112,113). *Ixodes ricinus* saliva Th2 polarization suppression of Th1 cytokines is accompanied by an absence of Th17 activation (114). Tick modulation of dendritic cells reduces innate and adaptive immune responses that could be disruptive to successful blood feeding as well as provide an environment that favors establishment of some types of tick-borne infectious agents.

Macrophages distributed are widely throughout tissues where they can act as antigen presenting cells for memory T lymphocytes (115). The three macrophage subpopulations are classically activated M1, regulatory M2 and wound healing macrophages (116). The M1 macrophages produce proinflammatory cytokines that also contribute to Th1 and Th17 polarization of helper T lymphocyte responses (117). Regulatory M2 macrophages are associated with suppression of inflammation by producing IL-10 and transforming growth factor-β (117,118). Tick saliva inhibits macrophage elaboration of the proinflammatory cytokines TNF and IL-1 (119,120) as well as chemokines, including IL-8 (121,122). Tick saliva inhibition of proinflammatory cytokines can occur concurrently with enhanced IL-10 production, resulting in reduced inflammatory response at the bite site (120). Reduced macrophage influx and activation also results from a tick saliva mimic of macrophage migration inhibition factor (123).

The overall modulatory properties of tick saliva on host endothelial cells, neutrophils, dendritic cells and macrophages create an environment where the inflammatory and innate immune response cells and molecular mediators are reduced in their ability to respond to injury and infectious agents. In addition, subsequent helper T lymphocyte responses are deviated to a Th2 profile associated with a less protective response (22,35,36,76). The challenging tasks remaining are identification of the molecules specifically responsible for modulation of these multiple host defenses.

Tick saliva induced effects on T lymphocytes include suppression of proliferation, cytokine elaboration and Th2 polarization (22,35,36,76). Both male and female tick salivary glands contain T lymphocyte specific inhibitors of proliferation (124). *Ixodes scapularis* saliva binds IL-2 that serves as an autocrine and paracrine driver of proliferation of antigen activated T lymphocytes (125). Likewise, production of the helper T lymphocyte effector cytokine INF-γ is inhibited by *Ixodes scapularis* feeding (126). One of the most thoroughly characterized tick saliva proteins is

Salp15 that acts upon the T lymphocyte costimulatory molecule CD4 to block proliferation by inhibiting post-antigen engagement calcium influx, signal transduction and IL-2 production (127,128,129). *Ixodes scapularis* sialostatin L inhibits cytotoxic CD8+ T lymphocyte proliferation (130). Suppression of helper CD4+ T lymphocyte derived IL-2 inhibits the ability of cytotoxic T lymphocytes to respond.

Tick induced host Th2 helper T lymphocyte polarization is reported for numerous tick species (22,35,36,76). An *Ixodes scapularis* saliva sphingomyelinase-like molecule is capable of inducing the prototypic CD4+ T lymphocyte Th2 cytokine IL-4 indicative of Th2 polarization (131). Additional Th2 polarizing factors are induced by *Ixodes ricinus* saliva (132).

Tick saliva also directly impacts B lymphocyte function by impairing proliferation and indirectly by reducing T lymphocyte helper signals essential for antibody class switching. Suppression of B lymphocyte proliferation is linked to tick saliva proteins (133,134). Concurrent with Th2 polarization is down regulation of Th1 helper cell responses with suppression of IFN-v that can potentially reduce essential T lymphocyte help for an antibody class switch from IgM to IgG. Tick infestation suppresses both IgM and IgG antibody responses (135). A Th2 polarization favors production of other immunoglobulin isotypes, specifically IgE. Holstein cattle susceptible to *Rhipicephalus* (Boophilus) microplus infestation develop increased levels of IgE when compared to a tick resistant breed (136). Tick bite induced anaphylaxis is a recognized medical problem, resulting from bites of selected tick species (137). However, local cutaneous hypersensitivity can be valuable in alerting a host to the presence of a tick and thus stimulating grooming behavior to remove the tick.

4. IDENTIFYING BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITIES OF SALIVA

Pace of research determining the actions of tick saliva increased significantly during the past few decades. Early studies assessed the ability of experimental tick infestations to induce resistance to subsequent tick exposures (138). Subsequently, histological studies provided insight into host defense mechanisms at tick feeding sites on naïve and repeatedly infested laboratory animals, cattle and humans (139,140,141,142,143,144). Results of histological studies informed experiments examining specific immune response elements and their relationship to tick saliva exposure. Identification of specific activities in saliva began by using tick salivary gland extracts prepared at distinct time points during feeding to assess their influence on host immune defenses. These whole salivary gland extract studies were followed by biochemical fractionation of salivary

gland extracts or saliva to isolate and identify specific biological activities (18,20,21,22,23,145,146). These experiments yielded some of the first descriptions of specific activities of salivary gland derived molecules linked to modulation of host defenses. At that point in time, our understanding greatly underestimated the complexity of tick saliva.

5. SALIVARY GLAND EXTRACTS TO ACTIVITIES OF INDIVIDUAL MOLECULES

Biochemical fractionation of tick salivary glands or saliva used to isolate and characterize specific reactive molecule(s) generally requires large numbers of starting material, often thousands of pairs of salivary glands, or considerable volumes of collected saliva; use of fractionation and isolation procedures that ensured retention of activity; and, Edman degradation to obtain N-terminal amino acid sequence of isolated active saliva proteins (86,147,148). Although these approaches seem limiting today compared to currently available technology to identify tick saliva molecules, their use at the time represented significant steps forward in understanding tick-host interactions.

Several examples provided are biochemical fractionation procedures to identify saliva activities. Wang and Nuttall (147) identified and isolated IgG-binding proteins in salivary gland extracts of Rhipicephalus appendiculatus, Amblyomma variegatum and Ixodes hexagonus. In this study, salivary glands were dissected from equal numbers of six day fed male and female ticks followed by affinity column chromatography to isolate IgG-binding saliva protein. Eluted proteins were precipitated and analyzed by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. A Sepharose column served as a negative control. Multiple IgG-binding proteins were identified as to molecular weights in unfed and six day fed salivary gland extracts of Rhipicephalus appendiculatus females and males and unfed salivary glands of female and male Amblyomma variegatum and Ixodes hexagonus.

Alternative complement pathway inhibitor activity is present in *Ixodes scapularis* saliva (84). A combination of biochemical isolation, N-terminal amino acid sequencing, cloning and expression were used to identify the inhibitor that acts by uncoupling factor Bb from the alternative pathway C3 convertase (86). This study represents the combination of identification of a saliva molecule by isolation procedures with random screening of a salivary gland cDNA library, cloning and expression of an active protein for functional analyses.

Female *Ixodes scapularis* engorged for four to five days prior to collection of saliva induced by pilocarpine. This study is an example of the challenging requirements for large amounts of

starting material (86). When saliva was subjected to molecular sieving followed by reverse-phase HPLC, the active fraction was considered to be at too low a concentration to provide a reliable N-terminal amino acid sequence. Since both saliva and salivary gland homogenates have alternative pathway inhibitory activity, approximately 500 pairs of salivary glands were homogenized and subjected to reverse-phase chromatography. Active fractions were concentrated and subjected to Edman degradation N-terminal amino acid sequencing. Obtaining a PCR product based upon N-terminal sequence primers failed. A fulllength clone of the complement inhibitor was identified by random screening of an Ixodes scapularis cDNA library followed by expression of the cDNA in COS cells. Recombinant expressed and native protein both have similar characteristics and alternative pathway inhibitory activities.

A Dermacentor andersoni suppressor of lymphocyte proliferation is an example of the progression from observation to identification, isolation and molecular characterization of a bioactive saliva molecule. Lymphocytes isolated from Dermacentor andersoni larvae infested quinea pigs have reduced in vitro proliferative responses to a T lymphocyte mitogen compared to similar cells from uninfested controls (149). Dermacentor andersoni salivary gland extract suppressed normal lymphocyte responsiveness to the T lymphocyte mitogen concanavalin A. demonstrating the saliva link (119). Salivary glands obtained from approximately 1,000 four day fed female *Dermacentor* andersoni were homogenized and subjected to low speed centrifugation to remove larger cellular debris (150). Pellet resulting from low speed centrifugation was treated with octylthioglucoside, a low molecular weight nonionic detergent, followed by a second low speed centrifugation with the resulting supernatant and sodium dodecyl sulfate treated pellet subjected to centrifugation at 105,000 x g. The supernatant obtained from the original low speed centrifugation was subsequently centrifuged at 105.000 x a. Further fractionation was achieved by a series of differential centrifugations, use of defined molecular weight concentrators and fractionation by preparative SDS-PAGE (150). Preparative SDS-PAGE fractionation resolved lymphocyte in vitro proliferation suppression activity to a 36 kDa protein whose ability to suppress lymphocyte concanavalin A responsiveness was reduced by immunoprecipitation by a specific antibody to the 36 kDa protein (148). In addition, the N-terminal 27 amino acid sequence was determined (148). A cDNA encoding the 36kDa Dermacentor andersoni immunosuppressant protein was isolated by 3' rapid amplification of cDNA ends using a set of nested forward degenerate oligonucleotide primers corresponding to the N-terminal amino acid sequence (124). Immunoblot analyses detected a peak expression of the immunosuppressant at the six day

of engorgement and present in both female and male salivary glands.

These low throughput approaches (38) link a specific tick salivary gland molecule with a defined function effecting host physiology. The same challenges exist for assessing the data derived from high throughput transcriptomic and proteomics strategies, that of linking a specific protein or family of proteins to modulation of a host defense. These efforts require specific selection and use of appropriate bioassays.

6. SALIVARY GLAND TRANSCRIPTOMES TO NEXT GENERATION SEQUENCING AND PROTEOMICS

Development of salivary gland cDNA libraries prepared at different time points during feeding provided major advances for identification of proteins expressed in tick salivary glands. Biologically active tick saliva molecules were identified, cloned, expressed and characterized starting from cDNA library Sanger sequencing, screening, subsequent amplification of the desired open reading frame, cloning, expression, purification and analysis of function (65,124,151,152). Addition of proteomic analyses with random Sanger sequencing of cDNA library clones advanced salivary gland genes discovery and functional analyses revealing in a higher level of salivary gland complexity than previously realized (59,60). Magnitude of complexity of salivary gland gene families, functional diversity, redundancy and differential gene expression are further revealed by next generation RNA or DNA sequencing technologies and high throughput proteomics (79,80, 81). These technological advances are described in an excellent review by Chmelař et al. (38). Addition of Ixodes scapularis genome sequencing provides another valuable data set for analyses of tick interactions with their hosts (153).

Early transcriptomic and proteomic studies provided the foundation to build upon for subsequent next generation sequencing and use of new tools for identification of tick salivary gland molecules (38). Salivary gland multigene families were discovered in early transcriptome analyses of cDNA libraries (59,60). Next generation sequencing findings expands the richness of the members of salivary gland gene families, resulting in an increased appreciation of the biological functions of these proteins (53,79,154). A 24 hour Ixodes scapularis fed female phage display cDNA library was screened with antibodies followed by next generation sequencing and bioinformatics analyses to identify immunogenic saliva proteins (155). From the same research group, over 800 putative immunoproteins were identified in Amblyomma americanum salivary gland using a similar immunological screening of a phage display cDNA library combined with Illumina next generation sequencing (156).

Differential expression of genes during tick salivary gland infection with tick-borne pathogens provides valuable insights into saliva molecules that could contribute to successful pathogen transmission and establishment in the host. Examples of infected salivary gland transcriptome analyses are Rhipicephalus appendiculatus infected with Theileria parva (157); Ixodes scapularis infected with Borrelia burgdorferi (59); Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus with Anaplasma marginale (158); and, Ixodes ricinus infected with Bartonella henselae (159).

Accumulation of extensive molecular data sets underpins systems biology approaches to achieve genome-wide analyses of specific response networks. such as inflammation, in a variety of complex human diseases (160), veterinary infectious diseases (161) and host-parasite interactions (162,163). Current systems biology approaches depend upon recent major technological advances. High throughput DNA sequencing was significantly advanced by development of strand specific RNA sequencing methodologies (164,165). Proteomics serves as an increasingly powerful tool for global identification and quantification of proteins during different physiological states (166). Transcripts identified can be successfully used to identify proteins in a strategy known as proteomics informed by transcriptomics (167). Next generation deep transcriptome sequencing methodologies combined with liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry proteomic analyses are powerful methodologies successfully applied to the study of salivary gland derived molecules in tickhost-pathogen interactions (37,38,154). The strength of these approaches can define in greater detail, than previously possible, specific gene families and their differential expression during infestation; the relationships between salivary gland proteins and specific tick transmitted infectious agents; and. transcriptomics and proteomics of tick tissues of interest. The ultimate goal still remains to definitively link a specific salivary gland derived molecule with a specific role within the host.

7. BITE SITE GENE EXPRESSION

Saliva composition and temporal changes in molecules expressed that occur during tick feeding interact with an array of cells, receptors and chemical mediators involved in maintaining cutaneous homeostasis as well as responding to injury and infection of the skin (90,91,168). Genome arrays and histopathology reveal very complex tick saliva induced modulation of host defenses and other changes at tick feeding sites on laboratory animals (77) and humans (78). Results demonstrate that tick saliva modulates.

deviates, suppresses or enhances numerous immune defense pathways to create an environment favorable for blood feeding and for pathogen transmission and establishment of host infection. Real time PCR analysis conducted for selected genes of lymph nodes draining sites of injection of *Ixodes scapularis* salivary gland extract and Powassan virus revealed temporal variability post-infection for expression of chemokines. proinflammatory cytokines and anti-inflammatory cytokines (56). Tick transmission models of tick-borne infectious agents provide the next step in determining host skin gene expression patterns at the tick-host interface. Host responses to feeding by Ixodes scapularis nymphs, experimentally infected with Powassan virus, were analyzed by pathway specific PCR arrays using bite site extracted RNA isolated at different times after initiation of blood feeding (171). Results were significant upregulation and down regulation of immune response genes at three and six hours after tick attachment.

Host cutaneous gene expression profiling was performed using T helper lymphocyte, wound healing, and signal transduction PCR arrays, during initial and second infestations of mice with pathogenfree Ixodes scapularis nymphs (77). Significant differences in gene expression occurred during primary and secondary infestations with 35 genes differing during the first exposure and 138 genes differing during the secondary exposure when compared with uninfested controls. Examples of upregulated genes during a primary infestation include: cytokines. chemokine signaling, NOD-like receptor signaling, inflammatory response, chemotaxis and immune response. Secondary infestation was characterized by upregulation of numerous genes associated with immune cell activation and signaling pathways that would indicated development of acquired immunity as a consequence of a primary infestation that is expanding significantly with initiation of a secondary infestation. These gene expression findings can be correlated with histological comparison of *Ixodes scapularis* nymph bite sites during primary and secondary infestations of mice (144). A very limited inflammatory response was observed surrounding tick mouthparts during a primary infestation; however, similar sites during a secondary infestation were characterized by an intense cellular influx that suggested a strong response to introduced saliva.

Similar microarray analyses combined with histopathology were performed during primary and secondary infestations with pathogen-free *Dermacentor andersoni* nymphs (170). Histologically, a small feeding lesion was developed at 12 hours of an initial infestation accompanied by mild inflammation. The inflammatory cell influx did not increase by 48 hours of the primary infestation, a finding consistent with that reported for *Ixodes scapularis* infestation (144).

Cutaneous gene expression and histological responses were assessed at one, three, six and 12 hours of attachment of pathogen-free Ixodes scapularis larvae (169). These time points were selected, since it is reported that Ixodes scapularis nymphs transmit Powassan virus within 15 minutes of host attachment (172). Number of cutaneous genes either up regulated or down regulated at one and three hours postattachment were few compared to the six or twelve hour tissues (169). Up regulated genes at six hours of tick attachment included negative regulators of myloid cell differentiation, which correlates with a subsequent neutrophil influx; B and T lymphocytes and Toll-like receptor signaling; and, anti-microbial response that would reflect innate immunity. At 12 hours of tick feeding, genes associated with inflammation and chemotaxis were up regulated. In addition to an influx of neutrophils, mast cell degranulation was observed at three hours that indicates initiation of an inflammatory response.

Human skin reactions to *Ixodes ricinus* infestation were examined by analyses of mRNA for cytokines, chemokines, leukocyte markers and histologically, using a comparison timeline of less than or more than 24 hours of host attachment (78). Bite sites of less than 24 hours displayed increased transcripts for proinflammatory cytokines as well as neutrophil and macrophage chemoattractants. Histologically, macrophages and dendritic cells were predominant at that time. At greater than 24 hours of tick feeding, the trend was for innate immune response elements to decline and lymphocytes to increase; however, these changes were not found to be statistically significant.

Immune response gene transcripts were also examined in peripheral blood cells of cattle breeds resistant and susceptible to *Rhipicephalus* (*Boophilus*) *microplus* infestation (173). Chemokine expression was altered in response to infestation as might be expected from earlier studies. The most intriguing reported observation was the suggestion that gamma/ delta T lymphocyte heightened activity correlated with resistant animals, a finding that requires further investigation.

Next logical step is to add a tick-borne pathogen into the examination of changes occurring at the tick-host interface. Pathway-specific PCR arrays were used to examine gene expression at *Ixodes scapularis* feeding sites by pathogen-free or Powassan virus infected ticks at three and six hours post-attachment (171). Inflammatory response genes were up regulated at three hours while down regulation of host genes was more pronounced at six hours of infestation. Powassan virus transmission from the tick to the host can occur within 15 minutes of initiation of feeding (172). Using the same tick-host-pathogen model, neutrophils and mononuclear cells

were recruited earlier to the virus infected bite site, and virus antigens were observed in macrophages and fibroblasts (174).

Transcriptional profiling of tick bite sites for pathogen-free compared with ticks infected with specific tick-borne infectious agents provides a comprehensive picture of how tick feeding temporally influences the local environment. Similar analyses are valuable when extended to lymph nodes draining the tick bite site. The persistent question that must be addressed is how to link observed specific changes in the host environment with specific saliva molecules introduced into the host.

8. SYSTEMS BIOLOGY OF TICK-HOST-PATHOGEN INTERACTIONS

Systems biology is a powerful approach that can be used to analyze the complex interplay between ticks and host responses at the feeding site at selected time points during the course of infestation. A goal would be to correlate concurrent real time salivary gland transcript and protein expression with changes in skin gene expression and then more systemically at lymph nodes draining the bite site. Once these patterns are defined and correlated temporally, then a tick transmitted infectious agent can be added to assess changes in tick saliva and the host response to both tick and microbe. An example of a tool that could be incorporated to obtain a more focused understanding of gene expression at a skin feeding lesion is laser capture microdissection (175) combined with transcriptome analyses of regions of the dissected tissue sections (176). Tick mouthparts create a pool-like lesion that differs both structurally and in cell composition from center to periphery as well as during primary and subsequent infestations (144). Laser capture microdissection could be used to obtain sections across tick feeding lesions to compare gene expression in different regions, resulting in a more refined picture of cellular and molecular interactions within bite site microenvironments.

Large data sets are being obtained for salivary gland transcriptomes and proteomes and for host skin gene expression at bite sites of uninfected and infectious agent transmitting ticks. As stated earlier, linking specific saliva molecules with defined changes in the host remains a major objective. That goal has been achieved for a number of examples of tick modulation of host immune defenses by utilizing various experimental strategies, some of which are described in this manuscript. Next generation sequencing is providing far more detailed data on gene families and temporal expression of individual transcripts.

Cloning and expression of individual gene products to determine biological roles is time

consuming and labor intensive, even when strong indications of function are provided by bioinformatics analyses. An alternative screening approach that could be useful was employed to describe a Th2 polarizing saliva molecule in the mosquito, *Aedes aegypti* (177). Selected salivary gland cDNAs were cloned into a DNA vaccine vector. To assess the salivary gland protein of interest, DNA vaccine vectors were injected into normal skin of an appropriate host species and real-time RT-PCR was used to assess cytokine gene expression in the skin. A similar approach might prove useful when screening tick saliva genes hypothesized to be linked with a specific biological function.

9. CONCLUSIONS

Significant advances have been achieved during the past 50 years in understanding the relationships between tick saliva, modulation of host defenses, acquisition of resistance to tick feeding as well as transmission and establishment of tickborne infectious agents. These advances in large part are linked to the development of increasingly powerful tools for study of the cellular and molecular interactions, mediators and signaling pathways. The current development of large data sets resulting from next generation sequencing, proteomics and transcriptomics at tick bite sites increasingly provide the tools for the application of systems analyses to achieve remarkable insights not previously obtainable into tick-host-pathogen interactions. The resulting knowledge will lead to new strategies for tick and tickborne pathogen control and potentially new biological therapeutics based upon tick saliva molecules. This is indeed an exciting field of endeavor with great potential for students and investigators to make meaningful contributions to human and veterinary medicine and public health.

10. REFERENCES

- D.T. Dennis, J.F. Piesman. Overview of tickborne infections of humans. In: Tick-borne Diseases of Humans. Eds: J.L. Goodman, D.T. Dennis, D.E. Sonenshine American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C., 3–11 (2005) DOI: 10.1128/9781555816490.ch1
- T. Kiss, D. Cadar, M. Spînu: Tick prevention at a crossroad: new and renewed solutions. Vet Parasitol 187, 357–366 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2012.02.010
- 3. A. Estrada-Peña, M. Salman: Current limitations in the control and spread of ticks that affect livestock: a review. *Agriculture* 3, 221–235 (2013)

DOI: 10.3390/agriculture3020221

- 4. G. Baneth: Tick-borne infections of animals and humans: a common ground. Int J Parasitol 44, 591-596 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2014.03.011 PMid:24846527
- 5. F. Dantas-Torres: Climate change. biodiversity, ticks and tick-borne diseases: The butterfly effect. Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl 4, 452-461 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijppaw.2015.07.001 PMid:26835253 PMCid:PMC4699983
- 6. S.C. Barker, A. Murrell. Systematics and evolution of ticks with a list of valid genus and species names. In, Ticks: Biology, Disease and Control. Eds. A.S. Bowman, P.A. Nuttall. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. 1-39 (2014)
- 7. L.A. Durden, L. Beati. Modern tick systematics. In: Biology of Ticks. Eds. D.E. Sonenshine, R.M. Roe. Oxford University Press, New York, Volume 1, 17–58 (2014)
- J.H. Oliver, Jr.: Biology and Systematics of Ticks (Acari:Ixodida). Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 20, 397-430 (1989) DOI: 10.1146/annurev.es.20.110189.002145
- 9. D.E. Sonenshine. The biology of tick vectors of human disease. In: Tick-borne Diseases of Humans. Eds. J.L. Goodman, D.T. Dennis, D.E. Sonenshine. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C. 12-36 DOI: 10.1128/9781555816490.ch2
- 10. L. Vail: Biological and ecological characteristics of soft ticks (Ixodida: Argasidae) and their impact for predicting tick and associated disease distribution. Parasite 16, 191-202 (2009) DOI: 10.1051/parasite/2009163191 PMid:19839264
- 11. D.A. Apanaskevich, J.H. Oliver, Jr. Life cycles and natural history of ticks. In, Ticks: Biology, Disease and Control. Eds. A.S. Bowman, P.A. Nuttall. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. 59–73 (2014)
- 12. D.K. Bergman. Mouthparts and feeding haematophagous mechanisms of arthropods. In: The Immunology of Host-Ectoparasitic Arthropod Relationships. Ed. S.K. Wikel. CAB International, Wallingford, U.K., 30-61 (1996) PMid:8713776

- 13. K.C. Binnington, D.H. Kemp: Role of tick salivary glands in feeding and disease transmission. Adv Parasitol 18, 315–339 (1980) DOI: 10.1016/S0065-308X(08)60403-0
- 14. D.H. Kemp, B.F. Stone, K.C. Binnington. Tick attachment and feeding: role of the mouthparts, feeding apparatus, salivary gland secretions and the host response. In, Physiology of Ticks. Eds. F.D. Obenchain, R. Galun. Peragon Press, Oxford, United Kingdom. Volume 1, 119-168 (1982) DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-08-024937-7.50009-3
- 15. D.E. Moorhouse. The attachment of some ixodid ticks to their natural hosts. In, Proceedings of the Second International Congress of Acarology, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Budapest, Hungary, 319-327 (1969)
- 16. R.A. Cooley, G.M. Kohls: The Argasidae of North America, Central America and Cuba. Am Midl Nat Monograph 1, 1–152 (1944)
- 17. W.R. Kaufman: Tick-host interaction: a synthesis of current concepts. Parasitol Today 5, 47-56 (1989) DOI: 10.1016/0169-4758(89)90191-9
- 18. P. Willadsen: Immunity to ticks. Adv Parasitol 18, 293–311 (1980) DOI: 10.1016/S0065-308X(08)60402-9
- 19. J.R. Allen: Immunology of interactions between ticks and laboratory animals. Exp Appl Acarol 7, 5-13 (1989) DOI: 10.1007/BF01200448 PMid:2667919
- 20. M. Brossard, S.K. Wikel: Tick immunobiology. In, Ticks: Biology, Disease and Control. Eds. A.S. Bowman, P.A. Nuttall. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. 186–204 (2008)DOI: 10.1017/CBO9780511551802.010
- 21. S.K. Wikel: Host immunity to ticks. Annu Rev Entomol 41, 1-22 (1996) DOI: 10.1146/annurev.en.41.010196.000245 PMid:8546443
- 22. S.K. Wikel: Ticks and tick-borne pathogens at the cutaneous interface: host defenses. tick countermeasures, and a suitable environment for pathogen establishment. Front Microbiol 4, 337 (2013) DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2013.00337 PMid:24312085 PMCid:PMC3833115

- 23. J.M.C. Ribeiro: How ticks make a living. *Parasitol Today* 11, 91–93 (1995) DOI: 10.1016/0169-4758(95)80162-6
- 24. F.J. Alarcon-Chaidez. Salivary glands: structure, physiology and molecular biology. In: Biology of Ticks. Eds. D.E. Sonenshine, R.M. Roe. Oxford University Press, New York, Volume 1, 163–205 (2014)
- 25. J.R. Allen, M.H. Khalil, J.E. Graham: The location of tick salivary antigens, complement and immunoglobulin in the skin of guinea-pigs infested with *Dermacentor andersoni*. *Immunology* 38, 467–472 (1979) PMid:391694 PMCid:PMC1457827
- A.N. Alekseev, L.A. Burenkova, I.S. Vasilieva, H.V. Dubinina, S.P. Chunikhin: Preliminary studies on virus and spirochete accumulation in the cement plug of ixodid ticks. *Exp Appl Acarol* 20, 713–723 (1996) DOI: 10.1007/BF00051556 PMid:9004495
- 27. H.E. Nonga, A. Muwonge, R.H. Mdegela: Tick infestations in extensively grazed cattle and efficacy trial of high-cis cypermethrin pour-on preparation for control of ticks in Mvomero district in Tanzania. *BMC Vet Res* 8, 224 (2012)
 DOI: 10.1186/1746-6148-8-224
 PMid:23164198 PMCid:PMC3556501
- A. Wünschmann, A.G. Armien, E. Butler, M. Schrage, B. Stromberg, J.B. Bender, A.M. Firshman, M. Carstensen:. Necropsy findings in 62 opportunistically collected free-ranging moose (Alces alces) from Minnesota, USA (2003–13). See comment in PubMed Commons below J Wildl Dis. 51, 157–165 (2015) DOI: 10.7589/2014-02-037 PMid:25390764
- 29. Y. Rechav, J. Dauth, D.A. Els: Resistance of Brahman and Simmentaler cattle to southern African ticks. *Onderstepoort J Vet Res.* 57, 7–12 (1990) PMid:2339000
- O.O. Dipeolu, A.O. Mongi, S. Essuman, A.O. Amoo, J.N. Ndungu: Studies on naturally acquired immunity to African ticks. II. Observations on cattle exposed to *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* under varying periods of repeated infestations. *Vet Parasitol* 41, 293–320 (1992) DOI: 10.1016/0304-4017(92)90088-Q

- 31. S.K. Wikel, D.K. Bergman: Tick-host immunology: Significant advances and challenging opportunities. *Parasitol Today* 13, 383–389 (1997)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0169-4758(97)01126-5
- K.C. Castagnolli, L.B. de Figueiredo, D.A. Santana, M.B. de Castro, M.A. Romano, M.P. Szabó: Acquired resistance of horses to Amblyomma cajennense (Fabricius, 1787) ticks. Vet Parasitol 117, 271–283 (2003) DOI: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2003.09.004
- 33. C.M. de Freitas, R.C. Leite, E. Bastianetto, A.P. da Cunha, A.C. de Paiva Belo AC: Possible acquired resistance of dogs successively infested by *Amblyomma cajennense* (Fabricius, 1787) (Acari: Ixodidae) nymphs. *Rev Bras Parasitol Vet.* 18, Suppl 1, 40–42 (2009) DOI: 10.4322/rbpv.018e1007
- J.F. Bell, S.J. Stewart, S.K. Wikel: Resistance to tick-borne *Francisella tularensis* by ticksensitized rabbits: allergic klendusity. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 28, 876–880 (1979)
- M. Kazimírová, I. Štibrániová: Tick salivary compounds: their role in modulation of host defences and pathogen transmission. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 3, 43 (2013) DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2013.00043
- J. Kotál, H. Langhansová, J. Lieskovská, J.F. Andersen, I.M. Francischetti, T. Chavakis, J. Kopecký, J.H. Pedra, M. Kotsyfakis, J. Chmelař: Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva. *J Proteomics* 128, 58–68 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.jprot.2015.07.005
- 37. J. Chmelař, J. Kotál, S. Karim, P. Kopacek, I.M. Francischetti, J.H. Pedra, M. Kotsyfakis: Sialomes and Mialomes: A systems-biology view of tick tissues and tick-host interactions. *Trends Parasitol* 32, 242–254 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.pt.2015.10.002
- J. Chmelař, J. Kotál, J. Kopecký, J.H. Pedra, M. Kotsyfakis: All for one and one for all on the tick-host battlefield. *Trends Parasitol* 32, 368–377 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.pt.2016.01.004
- 39. P. Parola, C.D. Paddock, C. Socolovschi, M.B. Labruna, O. Mediannikov, T. Kernif, M.Y. Abdad, J. Stenos, I. Bitam, P.E.Fournier, D. Raoult: Update on tick-borne rickettsioses around the world: a geographic approach. See comment in PubMed Commons

belowClin Microbiol Rev. 26, 657-702 (2013)

DOI: 10.1128/CMR.00032-13

40. J. Brites-Neto. K.M. Duarte. T.F. Martins: Tick-borne infections in human and animal population worldwide. Vet World 8, 301-315 (2015)

DOI: 10.14202/vetworld.2015.301-315

41. M.P. Nelder, C.B. Russell, N.J. Sheehan, B. Sander, S. Moore, Y. Li, S. Johnson, S.N. Patel, D. Sider: Human pathogens associated with the blacklegged tick Ixodes scapularis: a systematic review. Parasit Vectors 9, 265 (2016)

DOI: 10.1186/s13071-016-1529-y

- 42. N.H. Ogden, L.R. Lindsay: Effects of climate and climate change on vectors and vectorborne diseases: ticks are different. Trends Parasitol 32, 646-656 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.pt.2016.04.015
- 43. M.A. Diuk-Wasser, E. Vannier, P.J. Krause: Coinfection by Ixodes tick-borne pathogens: ecological, epidemiological, and clinical consequences. Trends Parasitol 32, 30-42 (2016)

DOI: 10.1016/j.pt.2015.09.008

44. A. Piantadosi D.B. Rubin, D.P. McQuillen, L. Hsu, P.A. Lederer, C.D. Ashbaugh, C. Duffalo, R. Duncan, J. Thon, S. Bhattacharyya, N. Basgoz, S.K. Feske, J.L.Lyons: Emerging cases of Powassan virus encephalitis in New England: clinical presentation, imaging, and review of the literature. Clin Infect Dis 62, 707-713 (2016)

DOI: 10.1093/cid/civ1005

- 45. P.J. Krause, D. Fish, S. Narasimhan, A.G. Barbour: Borrelia miyamotoi infection in nature and in humans. See comment in PubMed Commons belowClin Microbiol Infect 21, 631-639 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.cmi.2015.02.006
- 46. L.K. McMullan, S.M. Folk, A.J. Kelly, A. MacNeil, C.S. Goldsmith, M.G. Metcalfe, B.C. Batten, C.G. Albariño, S.R. Zaki, P.E. Rollin, W.L. Nicholson, S.T. Nichol: A new phlebovirus associated with severe febrile illness in Missouri. See comment in PubMed Commons belowN Engl J Med 367, 834-841 (2012) DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1203378
- 47. G.P. Wormser, B. Pritt: Update and Commentary on Four Emerging Tick-Borne

- Infections: Ehrlichia muris-like agent, Borrelia miyamotoi, deer tick virus, heartland virus, and whether ticks play a role in transmission of Bartonella henselae. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 29, 371–381 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.idc.2015.02.009
- 48. J.R. Spengler, É. Bergeron, P.E. Rollin: Seroepidemiological studies of Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever virus in domestic and wild animals. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 10, e0004210 (2016) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0004210
- 49. G. Zehender, E. Ebranati, R. Shkjezi, A. Papa, C. Luzzago, E. Gabanelli, A. Lo Presti, A. Lai, G. Rezza, M. Galli, S. Bino, M. Ciccozzi: Bayesian phylogeography of Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever virus in Europe. *PLoS One*. 8, e79663 (2013) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079663
- 50. M.D. Esteve-Gassent, I. Castro-Arellano, T.P. Feria-Arroyo, R. Patino, A.Y. Li, R.F. Medina, A.A. de León, R.I. Rodríguez-Vivas: Translating ecology, physiology, biochemistry, and population genetics research to meet the challenge of tick and tick-borne diseases in North America. Arch Insect Biochem Physiol 92, 38–64 (2016) DOI: 10.1002/arch.21327
- 51. A.A. Perez de Leon, D.A. Strickman, D.P. Knowles, D. Fish, E. Thacker, J. de la Fuente, P.J. Krause, S.K. Wikel, R.S. Miller, G.G. Wagner, C., Almazan, R. Hillman, M.T. Messenger, P.O., Ugstad, R.A. Duhaime, P.D. Teel, A. Ortega-Santos, D.G. Hewitt, E.J. Bowers, S.J. Bent, M.H. Cochran, T.F. McElwain, G.A. Scoles, C.E. Suarez, R. Davey, J.M.H. Freeman, K. Lohmeyer, A.Y. Li, F.D. Guerrero, D.M. Kammlah, P. Phillips, J.M. Pound, and Group for Emerging Babesioses and One Health Research and Development in the U.S.: one health approach to identify research needs in bovine and human babesioses: Workshop Report. Parasit Vectors 3, 36 (2010)
- 52. C.J. Oliveira, A. Sá-Nunes, I.M. Francischetti, V. Carregaro, E. Anatriello, J.S. Silva, I.K. Santos, J.M. Ribeiro, B.R. Ferreira: Deconstructing tick saliva: non-protein molecules with potent immunomodulatory properties. J Biol Chem 286, 10960–10969 (2011) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M110.205047
- 53. S. Karim, J.M. Ribeiro: An Insight into the sialome of the lone star tick, Amblyomma

- americanum, with a glimpse on its time dependent gene expression. PLoS One 10, e0131292 (2015) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131292
- 54. CA. Pecina: Tick paralysis. Semin Neurol 32, 531–532 (2012)
- 55. P.A. Nuttall, M. Labuda. Saliva-assisted transmission of tick-borne pathogens. In, Ticks: Biology, Disease and Control. Eds. A.S. Bowman, P.A. Nuttall. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. 186–204 (2008) DOI: 10.1017/CBO9780511551802.011
- 56. M.E. Hermance, S. Thangamani: Tick saliva enhances Powassan virus transmission to the host, influencing its dissemination and the course of disease. J Virol 89, 7852–7860 (2015)

DOI: 10.1128/JVI.01056-15

- 57. D.C. Scholl, M.E. Embers, J.R. Caskey, D. Kaushal, T.N.Mather, W.R. Buck, L.A. Morici, M.T. Philipp: Immunomodulatory effects of tick saliva on dermal cells exposed to Borrelia burgdorferi, the agent of Lyme disease. Parasit Vectors 9, 394 (2016) DOI: 10.1186/s13071-016-1638-7
- 58. J.M.C. Ribeiro: Role of saliva in tick/host interactions. Exp Appl Acarol 7, 15–20 (1989) DOI: 10.1007/BF01200449
- 59. J. Ribeiro, F. Alarcon-Chaidez, I.M.B. Francischetti, B. Mans, T.N. Mather, J.G. Valenzuela, S.K. Wikel:. An annotated catalog of salivary gland transcripts from Ixodes scapularis ticks. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 36, 111–129 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2005.11.005
- 60. F.J. Alarcon-Chaidez, J. Sun, S.K. Wikel: Construction and characterization of a cDNA library from the salivary glands of Dermacentor andersoni Stiles (Acari: Ixodidae). Insect Biochem Mol Biol 37, 48-71 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2006.10.002
- 61. L. Liu, R.-R. Ji: New insights into the mechanisms of itch: are pain and itch controlled by distinct mechanisms? *Pflugers* Arch Eur J Physiol 465, 1671–1685 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/s00424-013-1284-2
- 62. B. McNeil, X. Dong: Peripheral mechanisms of itch. Neurosci Bull 28, 100-110 (2012) DOI: 10.1007/s12264-012-1202-1

- 63. J.J. Valdés: Antihistamine response: a dynamically refined function at the host-tick interface. Parasit Vectors 7, 491 (2014) DOI: 10.1186/s13071-014-0491-9
- 64. S.H. Paine, D.H. Kemp, J.R. Allen: In vitro feeding of Dermacentor andersoni (Stiles): effects of histamine and other mediators. Parasitology 86, 419–428 (1983)DOI: 10.1017/S0031182000050617
- 65. S. Sangamnatdej, G.C. Paesen, M. Slovak, P.A. Nuttall: A high affinity serotonin- and histamine-binding lipocalin from tick saliva. Insect Mol Biol 11, 79-86 (2002) DOI: 10.1046/j.0962-1075.2001.00311.x
- 66. M. Hosogi, M. Schmelz, Y. Miyachi, A. Ikoma: Bradykinin is a potent pruritogen in atopic dermatitis: a switch from pain to itch. Pain 126, 16-23 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.pain.2006.06.003
- Ribeiro, T.N. Mather: Ixodes 67. J.M.C. scapularis: salivary kininase activity is a metallo dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase. Exp Parasitol 89, 213-221 (1998) DOI: 10.1006/expr.1998.4296
- 68. M. Bastiani, S, Hillebrand, F. Horn, T.B. Kist, J.A. Guimarães, C. Termignoni:C. 2002. Cattle tick Boophilus microplus salivary gland contains a thiol-activated metalloendopeptidase displaying kininase activity. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 32, 1439-1446 (2002) DOI: 10.1016/S0965-1748(02)00064-4
- 69. I,M.B. Francischetti: Platelet aggregation inhibitors from hematophagous animals. Toxicon 56, 1130-1144 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2009.12.003
- 70. A. Fontaine, I. Diouf, N. Bakkali, D. Missé, F. Pagès, T. Fusai, C. Rogier, L. Almeras: Implication of haematophagous arthropod salivary proteins in host-vector interactions. Parasit Vectors 4, 187 (2011) DOI: 10.1186/1756-3305-4-187
- 71. J. Chmelař, E. Calvo, J.H. Pedra, I.M. Francischetti, M. Kotsyfakis: Tick salivary secretion as a source of antihemostatics. J Proteomics 75, 3842-3854 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.jprot.2012.04.026
- 72. T,C, Assumpção, J.M. Ribeiro, I.M. Francischetti: Disintegrins from

hematophagous sources. *Toxins* 4, 296–322 (2012)

DOI: 10.3390/toxins4050296

- 73. A. Mulenga, T. Kim, A.M. Ibelli: Amblyomma americanum tick saliva serine protease inhibitor 6 is a cross-class inhibitor of serine proteases and papain-like cysteine proteases that delays plasma clotting and inhibits platelet aggregation. Insect Mol Biol 22, 306–319 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1111/imb.12024
- 74. I.M.B. Francischetti, J.G. Valenzuela, J.F. Andersen, T.N. Mather, J.M.C. Ribeiro: Ixolaris, a novel recombinant tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) from the salivary gland of the tick, *Ixodes scapularis*: identification of factor X and factor Xa as scaffolds for the inhibition of factor VIIa/tissue factor complex. *Blood* 99, 3602–3612 (2002)

DOI: 10.1182/blood-2001-12-0237

- 75. I.M. Francischetti, T.N. Mather, J.M. Ribeiro: Penthalaris, a novel recombinant five-Kunitz tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) from the salivary gland of the tick vector of Lyme disease, *Ixodes scapularis*. *Thromb Haemost* 91, 886–898 (2004) DOI: 10.1160/th03-11-0715
- S.K. Wikel: Tick saliva a modulator of host defenses. In, Arthropod Vector Controller of Disease Transmission.: Vector Saliva-Host Pathogen Interactions. Eds. S.K. Wikel, S. Aksoy, G. Dimopoulos. Academic Press. Volume 2 (2017) (In press)
- D.M. Heinze, S.K. Wikel, S. Thangamani, F.J. Alarcon-Chaidez: Transcriptional profiling of the murine cutaneous response during initial and subsequent infestations with *Ixodes scapularis* nymphs. *Parasit Vectors* 5, 26 (2012)
 DOI: 10.1186/1756-3305-5-26
- 78. M. Glatz, T. Means, J. Haas, A.C. Steere, R.R. Müllegger: Characterization of the early local immune response to *Ixodes ricinus* tick bites in human skin. *Exp Dermatol* 23, 263–269 (2017) DOI: 10.1111/exd.13207
- G.R. Garcia, L.G. Gardinassi, J.M. Ribeiro,
 E. Anatriello, B.R. Ferreira, H.N. Moreira,
 C. M.M. Martins, M.P. Szabó, I.K. de
 Miranda-Santos, S.R. Maruyama: The
 sialotranscriptome of Amblyomma triste,

- Amblyomma parvum and Amblyomma cajennense ticks, uncovered by 454-based RNA-seq. Parasit Vectors 7, 430 (2014) DOI: 10.1186/1756-3305-7-430
- A. Schwarz, B.M. von Reumont, J. Erhart, A.C. Chagas, J.M. Ribeiro, M. Kotsyfakis: De novo *Ixodes ricinus* salivary gland transcriptome analysis using two nextgeneration sequencing methodologies. *FASEB J.* 27, 4745–4756 (2013) DOI: 10.1096/fj.13-232140
- 81. A. Schwarz, S. Tenzer, M. Hackenberg, J. Erhart, A. Gerhold-Ay, J. Mazur, J. Kuharev, J.M. Ribeiro, M. Kotsyfakis: A systems level analysis reveals transcriptomic and proteomic complexity in *Ixodes ricinus* midgut and salivary glands during early attachment and feeding. See comment in PubMed Commons belowMol Cell Proteomics. 13, 2725–2735 (2014) DOI: 10.1074/mcp.M114.039289
- 82. J. Kopecký, M. Kuthejlová: Suppressive effect of *Ixodes ricinus* salivary gland extract on mechanisms of natural immunity *in vitro*. *Parasite Immunol* 20, 169–174 (1998)
- 83. M. Kubes, P. Kocáková, M. Slovák, M. Sláviková, N. Fuchsberger, P.A. Nuttall: Heterogeneity in the effect of different ixodid tick species on human natural killer cell activity. *Parasite Immunol* 24, 23–28 (2002) DOI: 10.1046/j.0141-9838.2001.00434.x
- 84. J.M. Ribeiro: *Ixodes dammini*: salivary anticomplement activity. *Exp Parasitol* 64, 347–353 (1987)
 DOI: 10.1016/0014-4894(87)90046-4
- C.H. Lawrie, R.B. Sim, P.A. Nuttall: Investigation of the mechanisms of anticomplement activity in *Ixodes ricinus* ticks. *Mol Immunol* 42, 31–38 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/j.molimm.2004.07.001
- 86. J.G. Valenzuela, R. Charlab, T.N. Mather, J.M.C. Ribeiro: Purification, cloning, and expression of a novel salivary anticomplement protein from the tick, *Ixodes scapularis*. *J Biol Chem* 275, 18717–18723 (2000)
 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M001486200
- 87. K. Tyson, C. Elkins, H. Patterson, E. Fikrig, A. de Silva: Biochemical and functional characterization of Salp20, an *Ixodes*

scapularis tick salivary protein that inhibits the complement pathway. Insect Mol Biol 16, 469–479 (2007)

DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2583.2007.00742.x

88. D.E. Hourcade, A.M. Akk, L.M. Mitchell, H.F. Zhou, R. Hauhart, C.T. Pham: Anti-complement activity of the *Ixodes scapularis* salivary protein Salp20. *Mol Immunol* 69, 62–69 (2016)

DOI: 10.1016/j.molimm.2015.11.008

- 89. Q. Bernard, R.L. Gallo, B. Jaulhac, T. Nakatsuji, B. Luft, X. Yang, N. Boulanger: *Ixodes* tick saliva suppresses the keratinocyte cytokine response to TLR2/TLR3 ligands during early exposure to Lyme borreliosis. *Exp Dermatol* 25, 26–31 (2016) DOI: 10.1111/exd.12853
- F.O. Nestle, P. Di Meglio, J.Z. Qin, B.J. Nickoloff: Skin immune sentinels in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* 9, 679–691 (2009)

DOI: 10.1038/nri2622

- M. Pasparakis, I. Haase, F.O. Nestle: Mechanisms regulating skin immunity and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 14, 289– 301 (2014) DOI: 10.1038/nri3646
- 92. A.K. Abbas, A.H. Lichtman, S. Pillai. Cellular and Molecular Immunology, Eighth edition. Elsevier Saunders, Philadelphia (2015)
- 93. C. Nathan: Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities. *Nat Rev Immunol* 6, 173–182 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/nri1785
- 94. E. Kolaczkowska, P. Kubes: Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 13, 159–175 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1038/nri3399
- 95. S. de Oliveira, E.E. Rosowski, A. Huttenlocher: Neutrophil migration in infection and wound repair: going forward in reverse. *Nat Rev Immunol* 16, 378–391 (2016) DOI: 10.1038/nri.2016.49
- 96. J.M.C. Ribeiro, J.J. Weis, S.R. Telford, III: Saliva of the tick *Ixodes dammini* inhibits neutrophil function. *Exp Parasitol* 70, 382–388 (1990)
 DOI: 10.1016/0014-4894(90)90121-R

- 97. J. Beaufays, B. Adam, C. Menten-Dedoyart, L. Fievez, A. Grosjean, Y. Decrem, P.P. Prévôt, S. Santini, S., Brasseur, R., Brossard, M., Vanhaeverbeek, F. Bureau, E. Heinen, L. Lins, L. Vanhamme, E. Godfroid:. Ir-LBP, an Ixodes ricinus tick salivary LTB4-binding lipocalin, interferes with host neutrophil function. PloS One 3, e3987 (2008) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003987
- A. Hidano, S. Konnai, S. Yamada, N. Githaka, M. Isezaki, H. Higuchi, H. Nagahata, T. Ito, A. Takano, S. Ando, H. Kawabata, S. Murata, K. Ohahsi: Suppressive effects of neutrophil by Salp16-like salivary gland proteins from Ixodes persulcatus Schulze tick. Insect Mol Biol 23, 466–474 (2014) DOI: 10.1111/imb.12101
- 99. W. Weninger, M. Biro, R. Jain: Leukocyte migration in the interstitial space of non-lymphoid organs. *Nat Rev Immun*ol 14, 232–246 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1038/nri3641
- 100. R.R. Montgomery, D. Lusitani, A. De Boisfleury Chevance, S.E. Malawista: Tick saliva reduces adherence and area of human neutrophils. *Infect Immun* 72, 2989– 2994 (2004) DOI: 10.1128/IAI.72.5.2989-2994.2004
- 101. X. Guo, C.J. Booth, M.A. Paley, X. Wang, K. DePonte, E. Fikrig, S. Narasimhan, R.R. Montgomery: Inhibition of neutrophil function by two tick salivary proteins. *Infect Immun* 77, 2320–2329 (2009) DOI: 10.1128/IAI.01507-08
- 102. K.R. Macaluso, S.K. Wikel: Dermacentor andersoni: effects of repeated infestations on lymphocyte proliferation, cytokine production, and adhesion-molecule expression by BALB/c mice. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 95, 413–427 (2001) DOI: 10.1080/00034983.2001.11813655
- 103. S.S. Maxwell, T.A. Stoklasek, Y. Dash, K.R. Macaluso, S.K. Wikel: Tick modulation of the in-vitro expression of adhesion molecules by skin-derived endothelial cells. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* 99, 661–672 (2005) DOI: 10.1179/136485905X51490
- 104. A. Boltjes, F. van Wijk: Human dendritic cell functional specialization in steady-state and inflammation. *Front Immunol* 5, 131 (2014) DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00131

- 105. S. Nithiuthai, J.R. Allen: Significant changes in epidermal Langerhans cells of guinea-pigs infested with ticks (*Dermacentor andersoni*). *Immunology* 51, 133–141 (1984)
- 106. K.A. Cavassani, J.C. Aliberti, A.R. Dias, J.S. Silva, B.R. Ferreira: Tick saliva inhibits differentiation, maturation and function of murine bone-marrow-derived dendritic cells. *Immunology* 114, 235–245 (2005) DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2004.02079.x
- 107. C.J. Oliveira, K.A. Cavassani, D.D. Moré, G.P. Garlet, J.C. Aliberti, J.S. Silva, B.R. Ferreira: Tick saliva inhibits the chemotactic function of MIP-1 alpha and selectively impairs chemotaxis of immature dendritic cells by down-regulating cell-surface CCR5. *Int J Parasitol* 38, 705–716 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2007.10.006
- 108. C.J. Oliveira, W.A. Carvalho, G.R. Garcia, F.R. Gutierrez, I.K. de Miranda Santos, J.S. Silva, B.R. Ferreira: Tick saliva induces regulatory dendritic cells: MAP-kinases and Toll-like receptor-2 expression as potential targets. *Vet Parasitol* 167, 288–297 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2009.09.031
- 109. O.S. Sakhon, M.S. Severo, M. Kotsyfakis, J.H. Pedra: A Nod to disease vectors: mitigation of pathogen sensing by arthropod saliva. *Front Microbiol* 4, 308 (2013) DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2013.00308
- 110. D.K. Shaw, M. Kotsyfakis, J.H.F. Pedra: For whom the bell Tolls (and Nods): spit-acular saliva. *Curr Trop Med Rep* 3, 40–50 (2016) DOI: 10.1007/s40475-016-0072-4
- 111. X. Wang, D.K. Shaw, O.S. Sakhon, G.A. Snyder, E.J. Sundberg, L. Santambrogio, F.S. Sutterwala, J.S. Dumler, K.A. Shirey, D.J. Perkins, K. Richard, A.C. Chagas, E. Calvo, J. Kopecký, M. Kotsyfakis, J.H. Pedra:. The tick protein sialostatin L2 binds to annexin A2 and inhibits NLRC4-mediated inflammasome activation. *Infect Immun* 84, 1796–1805 (2016) DOI: 10.1128/IAI.01526-15
- 112. S.G. Preston, J. Majtán, C. Kouremenou, O. Rysnik, L.F. Burger, A. Cabezas Cruz, M. Chiong Guzman, M.A. Nunn, G.C. Paesen, P.A. Nuttall, J.M. Austyn: Novel immunomodulators from hard ticks selectively reprogramme human dendritic cell responses. *PLoS Pathog* 9, 1003450 (2013) DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003450

- 113. T.M. Carvalho-Costa, M.T. Mendes, M.V. da Silva, T.A. da Costa, M.G. Tiburcio, A.C. Anhê, V. Rodrigues, Jr, C.J. Oliveira: Immunosuppressive effects of *Amblyomma cajennense* tick saliva on murine bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. *Parasit Vectors* 8, 22 (2015) DOI: 10.1186/s13071-015-0634-7
- 114. A.Skallová, G. lezzi, F. Ampenberger, M. Kopf, J. Kopecký: Tick saliva inhibits dendritic cell migration, maturation, and function while promoting development of Th2 responses. *J Immunol* 180, 6186–6192 (2008) DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.6186
- 115. P.A. Knolle: Staying local-antigen presentation in the liver. See comment in PubMed Commons belowCurr Opin Immunol 40, 36–42 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.coi.2016.02.009
- 116. D.M. Mosser, J.P. Edwards: Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 8, 958–969 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/nri2448
- 117. P.J. Murray, J.E. Allen, S.K. Biswas, E.A. Fisher, D.W. Gilroy, S. Goerdt, S. Gordon, J.A. Hamilton, L.B. Ivashkiv, T. Lawrence, M. Locati, A. Mantovani, F.O. Martinez, J.L. Mege, D.M. Mosser, G. Natoli, J.P. Saeij, J.L. Schultze, K.A. Shirey, A. Sica, J. Suttles, I. Udalova, J.A. van Ginderachter, S.N. Vogel, T.A. Wynn: Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines. *Immunity* 41, 14–20 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.008
- 118. M. Locati, A. Mantovani, A. Sica: Macrophage activation and polarization as an adaptive component of innate immunity. *Adv Immunol* 120, 163–184 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-417028-5.00006-5
- 119. R.N. Ramachandra, S.K. Wikel: Modulation of host-immune responses by ticks (Acari: Ixodidae): effect of salivary gland extracts on host macrophages and lymphocyte cytokine production. *J Med Entomol* 29, 818–826 (1992)
 DOI: 10.1093/imedent/29.5.818
- 120. J. Wu, Y. Wang, H. Liu, H. Yang, D. Ma, J. Li, D. Li, R. Lai, H. Yu:. Two immunoregulatory peptides with antioxidant activity from tick salivary glands. *J Biol Chem* 285, 16606–16613 (2010) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M109.094615

- 121. V. Hajnická, P. Kocáková, M. Sláviková, M. Slovák, J. Gasperík, N. Fuchsberger, P.A. Nuttall: Anti-interleukin-8 activity of tick salivary gland extracts. Parasite Immunol 23, 483–489 (2001)
 - DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-3024.2001.00403.x
- 122. I. Vancová, M. Slovák, V. Hajnická, M. Labuda, L. Simo, K. Peterková, R.S. Hails, P.A. Nuttall: Differential anti-chemokine activity of Amblyomma variegatum adult ticks during blood-feeding. Parasite Immunol 29, 169-177 (2007) DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-3024.2006.00931.x
- 123. R. Umemiya, T. Hatta, M. Liao, M. Tanaka, J. Zhou, N. Inoue, K. Fujisaki:. Haemaphysalis longicornis: molecular characterization of a homologue of the macrophage migration inhibitory factor from the partially fed ticks. Exp Parasitol 115, 135-142 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.exppara.2006.07.006
- 124. D.K. Bergman, M.J. Palmer, M.J. Caimano, J.D. Radolf, S.K. Wikel: Isolation and cloning of a secreted immunosuppressant protein from *Dermacentor andersoni* salivary gland. J. Parasitol 86, 516-525 (2000) DOI: 10.1645/0022-3395(2000)086[0516:IA MCOA]2.0.CO;2
- 125. R.D. Gillespie, M.C. Dolan, J. Piesman, R.G. Titus: Identification of an IL-2 binding protein in the saliva of the Lyme disease vector tick, Ixodes scapularis. J. Immunol 166, 4319–4326 (2001) DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.7.4319
- 126. G.B. Schoeler, S.A. Manweiler, S.K. Wikel: *Ixodes scapularis*: effects of repeated infestations with pathogen-free nymphs on macrophage and T lymphocyte cytokine responses of BALB/c and C3H/HeN mice. Exp Parasitol 92, 239-248 (1999) DOI: 10.1006/expr.1999.4426
- 127. J. Anguita, N. Ramamoorthi, J.W. Hovius, S. Das, V. Thomas, R. Persinski, D. Conze, P.W. Askenase, M. Rincón, F.S. Kantor, E. Fikrig: Salp15, an *Ixodes scapularis* salivary protein, inhibits CD4(+) T cell activation. *Immunity* 16, 849–859 (2002) DOI: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00325-4
- 128. R. Garg, I.J. Juncadella, N. Ramamoorthi, S.K. Ananthanarayanan, Ashish, Thomas, M. Rincón, J.K. Krueger, E. Fikrig, C.M. Yengo, J. Anguita: Cutting edge: CD4 is the receptor for the tick saliva

- immunosuppressor, Salp15. J Immunol 177, 6579–6583 (2006) DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.10.6579
- 129. I.J. Juncadella. R. Gara. S.K. Ananthnarayanan, C.M. Yengo, J. Anguita: T-cell signaling pathways inhibited by the tick saliva immunosuppressor, Salp15. FEMS FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 49, 433-438 (2007)
 - DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-695X.2007.00223.x
- 130. M. Kotsyfakis, Α. Sá-Nunes, I.M. Francischetti, T.N. Mather, J.F. Andersen, Ribeiro: Antiinflammatory immunosuppressive activity of sialostatin L, a salivary cystatin from the tick *lxodes* scapularis. J Biol Chem 281, 26298-26307 (2006)
 - DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M513010200
- 131. F.J. Alarcon-Chaidez, V.D. Boppana, A.T. Hagymasi, A.J. Adler, S.K. Wikel: A novel sphingomyelinase-like enzyme in *Ixodes* scapularis tick saliva drives host CD4 T cells to express IL-4. Parasite Immunol 31, 210-219 (2009)
 - DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-3024.2009.01095.x
- 132. H. Langhansová, T. Bopp, E. Schmitt, J. Kopecký:. Tick saliva increases production of three chemokines including monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, a histaminereleasing cytokine. Parasite Immunol 37, 92-96 (2015)
 - DOI: 10.1111/pim.12168
- 133. S. Hannier, J. Liversidge, J.M. Sternberg, A.S. Bowman: Characterization of the B-cell inhibitory protein factor in *Ixodes ricinus* tick saliva: a potential role in enhanced Borrelia burgdoferi transmission. Immunology 113, 401-408 (2004) DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2004.01975.x
- 134. D. Yu, J. Liang, H. Yu, H. Wu, C. Xu, J. Liu, R. Lai:. A tick B-cell inhibitory protein from salivary glands of the hard tick, Hyalomma asiaticum asiaticum. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 343, 585-590 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.02.188
- 135. C. Menten-Dedoyart, B. Couvreur, O. Thellin, P.V. Drion, M. Herry, O. Jolois, E. Heinen: Influence of the Ixodes ricinus tick bloodfeeding on the antigen-specific antibody response in vivo. Vaccine 26, 6956-6964 (2008)

DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.09.072

- 136. S.S. Kashino, J. Resende, A.M. Sacco, C. Rocha, L. Proença, W.A. Carvalho, A.A. Firmino, R. Queiroz, M. Benavides, L.J. Gershwin, I.K. De Miranda Santos: Boophilus microplus: the pattern of bovine immunoglobulin isotype responses to high and low tick infestations. Exp Parasitol 110, 12–21 (2005)
 - DOI: 10.1016/j.exppara.2005.01.006
- 137. T.B. Rappo, A.M. Cottee, A.M. Ratchford, B.J. Burns: Tick bite anaphylaxis: incidence and management in an Australian emergency department. *Emerg Med Australas* 25, 297–301 (2013) DOI: 10.1111/1742-6723.12093
- 138. W. Trager: Acquired immunity to ticks. *J Parasitol* 25, 57–81 (1939) DOI: 10.2307/3272160
- 139. D.R. Arthur: Tick feeding and its implications. See comment in PubMed Commons belowAdv Parasitol 8, 275–292 (1972) DOI: 10.1016/S0065-308X(08)60258-4
- 140. J.R. Allen: Tick resistance: basophils in skin reactions of resistant guinea pigs. *Int J Parasitol* 3, 195–200 (1973)
 DOI: 10.1016/0020-7519(73)90024-6
- 141. J.H. Theis, P.D. Budwiser: *Rhipicephalus* sanguineus: sequential histopathology at the host-arthropod interface. *Exp Parasitol* 36, 77–105 (1974)
 DOI: 10.1016/0014-4894(74)90115-5
- 142. J.R. Allen, B.M. Doube, D.H. Kemp: Histology of bovine skin reactions to *Ixodes holocyclus*, Neuman. *Can J Comp Med* 41, 26–35 (1977)
- 143. A.A. Latif, D.K. Punyua, P.B. Capstick, S. Nokoe, A.R.Walker, J.D.Fletcher:. Histopathology of attachment sites of Amblyomma variegatum and Rhipicephalus appendiculatus on zebu cattle of varying resistance to ticks. Vet Parasitol 38, 205– 213 (1991) DOI: 10.1016/0304-4017(91)90130-N
- 144. P.J. Krause, J.M. Grant-Kels, S.R. Tahan, K.R. Dardick, F. Alarcon-Chaidez, K. Bouchard, C. Visini, C. Deriso, I.M. Foppa, S. Wikel: Dermatologic changes induced by repeated *Ixodes scapularis* bites and implications for prevention of tick-borne infection. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis* 9, 603–610 (2009) DOI: 10.1089/vbz.2008.0091

- 145. S.K. Wikel: Immune responses to arthropods and their products. *Annu Rev Entomol* 27, 21–48 (1982)
 DOI:10.1146/annurev.en.27.010182.000321
- 146. N.A. Steen, S.C. Barker, P.F. Alewood: Proteins in the saliva of the Ixodidae (ticks): pharmacological features and biological significance. *Toxicon* 47, 1–20 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/i.toxicon.2005.09.010
- 147. H. Wang, P.A. Nuttall: Immunoglobulin-G binding proteins in the ixodid ticks, Rhipicephalus appendiculatus, Amblyomma variegatum and Ixodes hexagonus. Parasitology 111, 161–165 (1995) DOI: 10.1017/S0031182000064908
- 148. D.K. Bergman, R.N. Ramachandra, S.K. Wikel: Characterization of an immunosuppressant protein from *Dermacentor andersoni* (Acari: Ixodidae) salivary glands. *J Med Entomol* 35, 505–509 (1998) DOI: 10.1093/jmedent/35.4.505
- 149. S.K. Wikel, J.E. Graham, J.R. Allen: Acquired resistance to ticks: IV. Skin reactivity and *in vitro* lymphocyte responsiveness to salivary gland antigen. *Immunology* 34, 257–263 (1978)
- 150. D.K. Bergman, R.N. Ramachandra, S.K. Wikel: *Dermacentor andersoni*: salivary gland proteins suppressing T-lymphocyte responses to concanavalin A *in vitro*. *Exp Parasitol* 81, 262–271 (1995) DOI: 10.1006/expr.1995.1117
- 151. S. Das, N. Marcantonio, K. DePonte, S.R. Telford, III, J.F. Anderson, F.S. Kantor, E. Fikrig: SALP 16, a gene induced in *Ixodes scapularis* salivary glands during tick feeding. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 62, 99–105 (2000)
- 152. G. Leboulle, M. Crippa, Y. Decrem, N. Mejri, M. Brossard, A. Bollen, E.Godfroid: Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from *Ixodes ricinus* ticks. *J Biol Chem* 277, 10083–10089 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M111391200
- 153. M. Gulia-Nuss, A.B. Nuss, J.M. Meyer, D.E. Sonenshine, R.M. Roe, R.M. Waterhouse, D.B. Sattelle, J. de la Fuente, J.M. Ribeiro, K. Megy, J. Thimmapuram, J.R. Miller, B.P. Walenz, S. Koren, J.B. Hostetler,

- M. Thiagarajan, V.S. Joardar, L.I. Hannick, S. Bidwell, M.P. Hammond, S. Young, Q. Zeng, J.L. Abrudan, F.C. Almeida, N. Ayllón, K. Bhide, B.W. Bissinger, E. Bonzon-Kulichenko, S.D. Buckingham, D.R. Caffrey, M.J. Caimano, V. Croset, T. Driscoll, D. Gilbert, J.J. Gillespie, G.I. Giraldo-Calderón, J.M. Grabowski, D. Jiang, S.M. Khalil, D. Kim, K.M. Kocan, J. Koči, R.J. Kuhn, T.J. Kurtti, K. Lees, E.G. Lang, R.C. Kennedy, H. Kwon, R. Perera, Y. Qi, J.D. Radolf, J.M. Sakamoto, A. Sánchez-Gracia, M.S. Severo, N. Silverman, L. Šimo, M. Tojo, C. Tornador, J.P. Van Zee, J. Vázquez, F.G. Vieira, M.Villar, A.R. Wespiser, Y. Yang, J. Zhu, P. Arensburger, P.V. Pietrantonio, S.C. Barker, R. Shao, E.M. Zdobnov, F. Hauser, C.J. Grimmelikhuijzen, Y. Park, J. Rozas, R. Benton, J.H. Pedra, D.R. Nelson, M.F. Unger, J.M. Tubio, Z. Tu, H.M. Robertson, M. Shumway, G. Sutton, J.R. Wortman, D. Lawson, S.K. Wikel, V.M. Nene, C.M. Fraser, F.H. Collins, B. Birren, K.E. Nelson, E. Caler, C.A. Hill: Genomic insights into the *Ixodes* scapularis tick vector of Lyme disease. Nat Commun 7, 10507 (2016) DOI: 10.1038/ncomms10507
- 154. L. Mudenda, S.A. Pierlé, J.E. Turse, G.A. Scoles, S.O. Purvine, C.D. Nicora, T.R. Clauss, M.W. Ueti, W.C. Brown, K.A. Brayton: Proteomics informed by transcriptomics identifies novel secreted proteins in *Dermacentor andersoni* saliva. *Int J Parasitol* 44, 1029–1037 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2014.07.003
- 155. L.A. Lewis, Ž.M. Radulović, T.K. Kim, L.M. Porter, A. Mulenga: Identification of 24h Ixodes scapularis immunogenic tick saliva proteins. Ticks Tick Borne Dis 6, 424–434 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.03.012
 - DOI: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.05.012
- 156. Ž.M. Radulović, T.K. Kim, L.M. Porter, S.H. Sze, L Lewis, A. Mulenga: 24–48 h fed *Amblyomma americanum* tick saliva immuno-proteome. *BMC Genomics* 15, 518 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2164-15-518
- 157. V. Nene, D. Lee, S. Kang'a, R. Skilton, T. Shah, E. de Villiers, S. Mwaura, D. Taylor, J. Quackenbush, R. Bishop: Genes transcribed in the salivary glands of female *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* ticks infected with Theileria parva. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol* 34, 1117–1128 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2004.07.002

- 158. R.F. Mercado-Curiel, G.H. Palmer, F.D. Guerrero, K.A.Brayton KA: Temporal characterisation of the organ-specific *Rhipicephalus microplus* transcriptional response to Anaplasma marginale infection. *Int J Parasitol* 41, 851–860 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2011.03.003
- 159. X.Y. Liu, J. de la Fuente, M. Cote, R.C. Galindo, S. Moutailler, M. Vayssier-Taussat, S.I. Bonnet: IrSPI, a tick serine protease inhibitor involved in tick feeding and Bartonella henselae infection. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 8, e2993 (2014) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0002993
- 160. Y. Zhao, C.V. Forst, C.E. Sayegh, I.M. Wang, X. Yang, B. Zhang: Molecular and genetic inflammation networks in major human diseases. *Mol Biosyst*.12, 2318–2341 (2016) DOI: 10.1039/C6MB00240D
- 161. E. Mathijs, F. Vandenbussche, S. Van Borm: Using genomics for surveillance of veterinary infectious agents. *Rev Sci Tech* 35, 143–157 (2016) DOI: 10.20506/rst.35.1.2424
- 162. J. Swann, N. Jamshidi, N.E. Lewis, E.A. Winzeler: Systems analysis of host-parasite interactions. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Syst Biol Med. 7, 381–400 (2015) DOI: 10.1002/wsbm.1311
- 163. J.M. Greenwood, A.L. Ezquerra, S. Behrens, A. Branca, L. Mallet: Current analysis of host-parasite interactions with a focus on next generation sequencing data. *Zoology* (Jena) 119, 298–306 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.zool.2016.06.010
- 164. J.Z. Levin, M. Yassour, X. Adiconis, C. Nusbaum, D.A. Thompson, N. Friedman, A. Gnirke, A. Regev: Comprehensive comparative analysis of strand-specific RNA sequencing methods. *Nat Methods* 7, 709–715 (2010) DOI: 10.1038/nmeth.1491
- 165. Z. Wang, M. Gerstein, M. Snyder: RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. *Nat Rev Genet*. 10, 57–63 (2011) DOI: 10.1038/nrg2484
- 166. J. Cox, M, Mann: Quantitative, highresolution proteomics for data-driven systems biology. *Annu Rev Biochem* 80, 273–299 (2011) DOI:10.1146/annurev-biochem-061308-093216

- 167. V.C. Evans, G. Barker, K.J. Heesom, J. Fan, C. Bessant, D.A. Matthews: De novo derivation of proteomes from transcriptomes for transcript and protein identification. *Nat Methods* 9, 1207–1211 (2012) DOI: 10.1038/nmeth.2227
- 168. A.S. Yazdi, M. Röcken, K. Ghoreschi: Cutaneous immunology: basics and new concepts. Semin Immunopathol 38, 3–10 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1007/s00281-015-0545-x
- 169. D.M. Heinze, J.R. Carmical, J.F. Aronson, S. Thangamani: Early immunologic events at the tick-host interface. *PLoS One* 7, e47301 (2012) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047301
- 170. D.M. Heinze, J.R. Carmical, J.F. Aronson, F. Alarcon-Chaidez, S. Wikel, S. Thangamani: Murine cutaneous responses to the Rocky Mountain spotted fever vector, *Dermacentor andersoni*, feeding. *Front Microbiol* 5, 198 (2014)
 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00198
- 171. M.E. Hermance, S. Thangamani: Proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines at the skin interface during Powassan virus transmission. *J Invest Dermatol* 134, 2280–2283 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1038/jid.2014.150
- 172. G.D. Ebel, L.D. Kramer: Short report: duration of tick attachment required for transmission of Powassan virus by deer ticks. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 71, 268–271 (2004)
- 173. R. Domingues, S. Wohlres-Viana, D.R. Reis, H.C. Teixeira, A.P. Ferreira, S.E. Guimarães, M.C. Prata, J. Furlong, R.S. Verneque, M.A. Machado: Expression of immune response genes in peripheral blood of cattle infested with *Rhipicephalus microplus*. *Genet Mol Res* 13, 4013–4021 (2014) DOI: 10.4238/2014.May.23.12
- 174. M.E. Hermance, R.I. Santos, B.C. Kelly, G. Valbuena, S. Thangamani: Immune cell targets of infection at the tick-skin interface during Powassan virus transmission. *PLoS One* 11, e0155889 (2016) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155889
- 175. S. Datta, L. Malhotra, R. Dickerson, S. Chaffee, C.K. Sen, S. Roy: Laser capture microdissection: Big data from small samples. *Histol Histopathol* 30, 1255–1269 (2015)

- 176. I. Leguen, A. Le Cam, J. Montfort, S. Peron, A. Fautrel: Transcriptomic analysis of trout gill ionocytes in fresh water and sea water using laser capture microdissection combined with microarray analysis. *PLoS One* 10, e0139938 (2015) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0139938
- 177. V.D. Boppana, S. Thangamani, A.J. Adler, S.K. Wikel: SAAG-4 is a novel mosquito salivary protein that programmes host CD4 T cells to express IL-4. *Parasite Immunol* 31, 287–295 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-3024.2009.01096.x
- **Key Words:** Tick, Tick-Borne Pathogens, *Rhipicephalus microplus*, Immune Responses, Modulation of Host Defenses, Review
- Send correspondence to: Stephen K. Wikel. Frank H. Netter M.D. School of Medicine, Quinnipiac University, Hamden, CT 06518, USA, Tel: 1-203-626-9231, E-mail: stephen.wikel@quinnipiac.edu